Thermalization and hydrodynamics of two-dimensional quantum field theories

Luca V. Delacrétaz¹, A. Liam Fitzpatrick², Emanuel Katz² and Matthew T. Walters³

 Kadanoff Center for Theoretical Physics, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL 60637, USA
 Department of Physics, Boston University, Boston, MA 02215, USA
 Institute of Physics, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne (EPFL), CH-1015 Lausanne, Switzerland

Abstract

We consider 2d QFTs as relevant deformations of CFTs in the thermodynamic limit. Using causality and KPZ universality, we place a lower bound on the timescale characterizing the onset of hydrodynamics. The bound is determined parametrically in terms of the temperature and the scale associated with the relevant deformation. This bound is typically much stronger than $\frac{1}{T}$, the expected quantum equilibration time. Subluminality of sound further allows us to define a thermodynamic *C*-function, and constrain the sign of the $T\bar{T}$ term in EFTs.

Copyright L. V. Delacrétaz et al.Received 17-05-2021This work is licensed under the Creative CommonsAccepted 28-02-2022Attribution 4.0 International License.Published 07-04-2022Published by the SciPost Foundation.doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.12.4.119

Contents

1	Introduction and Bound on Thermalization		
2	Thermodynamics		
3	B Hydrodynamics		
4	Derivation of the Bound	10	
	4.1 Identification of the long-lived modes	11	
5	Extensions	13	
	5.1 Higher dimensions	13	
	5.2 Irrelevant deformations and low temperature limit	13	
	5.3 Extra symmetries	14	
	5.4 Large $c_{\rm UV}$ theories	15	
6	Future Directions	17	
Α	Special Cases	17	
	A.1 Free fermion and scalar	17	

Sci Post

	A.2 A.3	Integrable Ising flows Scalar + ϕ^p	18 19
B	Com	parison with Free Energy as a C-theorem	22
References			23

1 Introduction and Bound on Thermalization

We consider relativistic quantum field theories (QFTs) in two spacetime dimensions obtained from UV conformal field theories (CFTs) with a relevant deformation

$$\lambda \int d^2 x \mathcal{O}, \qquad \Delta \le 2.$$
 (1)

In the high temperature limit, the equation of state of the QFT approaches that of the UV CFT, so that in particular the speed of sound approaches the conformal value $\lim_{T\to\infty} c_s = 1$. Causality leaves no room for hydrodynamic spreading about the sound front when $c_s = 1$, and one finds indeed that thermal correlation functions of CFTs in the thermodynamic limit are entirely fixed by symmetry [1]. Instead, at intermediate temperatures, the QFT is expected to enter a hydrodynamic regime at late times $t \gg \tau_{eq}$ with speed of sound $c_s < 1$; however the near-luminal speed of sound will place important constraints on the equilibration time τ_{eq} at which hydrodynamics emerges.

In Ref. [2], Hartman, Hartnoll and Mahajan showed – following earlier work on hydrodynamics and causality [3–5] – that the vanishing of commutators outside the lightcone x > ctimposes a parametric bound on τ_{eq} in diffusive systems. The bound arises because diffusion $x^2 \sim Dt$ is superluminal at early times, and hence cannot emerge too soon. It reads

$$au_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \frac{D}{c^2},$$
 (2)

where *D* is the diffusion constant. A simple generalization of this bound for hydrodynamic modes with dispersion relation $\omega \simeq c_s k - i\mathcal{D}k^z$ (instead of $\omega \sim -iDk^2$) is

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \frac{\mathcal{D}^{1/(z-1)}}{(c-c_s)^{z/(z-1)}}.$$
(3)

In the following we set c = 1. As we review below, the hydrodynamics of interacting QFTs in two spacetime dimensions is governed by the KPZ universality class, with z = 3/2 rather than z = 2 for diffusion (note that z is unrelated to the zero temperature dynamic critical exponent, which for relativistic QFTs is always unity). Eq. (3) captures the absence of hydrodynamics in 2d CFTs, since it requires $\tau_{eq} \rightarrow \infty$ when $c_s \rightarrow 1$. For QFTs, corrections to the equation of state from breaking of conformality at intermediate temperatures will control $1-c_s$. They also control D, as dissipation in the KPZ universality class is entirely fixed by thermodynamics. Putting these together, one finds that at large but finite temperature $T \gg \lambda^{1/(2-\Delta)} \equiv \Lambda$, thermalization is allowed but strongly constrained

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \frac{1}{T} \frac{1}{c_{\rm UV}} \left(\frac{T}{\Lambda}\right)^{2(2-\Delta)},\tag{4}$$



Figure 1: *Left:* 2d QFT obtained from a UV CFT and a relevant deformation with scale Λ . *Right:* Sketch of a correlator (e.g., $\langle T_{00}(t, x)T_{00} \rangle$) at high temperatures $T \gg \Lambda$. The solid line is the lightcone x = t. The correlator is well described by the CFT expression at early times $t \lesssim \tau_{eq}$, and by KPZ hydrodynamics at late times $t \gtrsim \tau_{eq}$ where a sound front emerges along the dashed line $x = c_s t$.

where c_{UV} is the central charge of the UV CFT. We argue that this bound is in fact parametrically saturated, as long as $c_{UV} = O(1)$ and the RG flow is not near-integrable. Similar arguments show that thermalization is also strongly constrained at low temperatures. At intermediate temperatures, the bound depends on the details of the equation of state which can no longer be accessed with conformal perturbation theory, but generically requires

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \frac{1}{T} \frac{1}{s_o} \left(\frac{d \log s_o}{d \log T} \right)^{-1} , \tag{5}$$

where $s_o(T) \equiv s(T)/T$ is the dimensionless entropy density. The last factor is sensitive to conformal breaking: it is typically O(1) at intermediate temperatures $T \sim \Lambda$, but becomes large at high temperatures (where one recovers Eq. (4)) and low temperatures. The precise expression for this thermodynamic factor is given in Eq. (42).

It has been conjectured that the equilibration times of interacting quantum systems satisfy a quantum bound $\tau_{eq} \gtrsim \frac{1}{T}$ [6] – our results show that all 2d QFTs that do not have a large number of degrees of freedom satisfy this bound, and satisfy a parametrically stronger bound (4) at high or low temperatures (for marginally relevant deformations $\Delta = 2$, the parametric enhancement is logarithmic). The case $\Delta = 0$, which formally applies to a free scalar CFT with a ϕ^n deformation, is special and is treated separately – one finds that the bound (4) is replaced by $\tau_{eq} \gtrsim \frac{1}{T} \left(\frac{T}{\Lambda}\right)^{\frac{4}{n+2}}$. The slow thermalization in the high temperature limit is illustrated in Fig. 1.

Depending on microscopic details, some 2d QFTs may have the emergence of diffusive hydrodynamics before ultimately reaching KPZ universality – in these cases (4) still holds for the onset of diffusion (and in fact can be strengthened). This occurs for example in theories with many degrees of freedom $c_{\rm UV} \gg 1$. Since KPZ universality arises from hydrodynamic fluctuations, which are suppressed at large $c_{\rm UV}$, the bound (4) becomes weak in this limit;

however we show that causality still leads to a strong constraint on thermalization and the bulk viscosity, through the following bound

$$\frac{\zeta}{s} \lesssim (1 - c_s) T \tau_{\rm eq},\tag{6}$$

when $1 - c_s \ll 1$.

In higher dimensions, QFTs thermalize slowly at high (low) temperatures if they become free in the UV (IR), a process which can be studied with Boltzmann kinetic theory. Instead, 2d QFTs *always* thermalize slowly in these regimes, regardless of the nature of the UV and IR CFTs; our results do not rely on a particle description.

This paper is organized as follows. In Sec. 2, we study the thermodynamics of 2d QFTs; we show that the dimensionless entropy density $s_o(T)$ defines a *C*-function, and use conformal perturbation theory to obtain the equation of state at high temperatures. We then turn to hydrodynamics in Sec. 3, explaining how KPZ universality emerges in 2d QFTs. Sec. 4 is devoted to the derivation of the bound (4). A number of extensions are discussed in Sec. 5, where we show that thermalization is also slow in the low temperature limit, and comment on higher dimensions, theories with additional global symmetries, and theories with a large number of degrees of freedom.

2 Thermodynamics

The equation of state of the QFT can be parametrized by the energy density $\varepsilon(T)$ or pressure P(T), defined as the thermal expectation value of the stress tensor

$$\langle \mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu} \rangle_{\beta} = (\varepsilon + P) \delta^0_{\mu} \delta^0_{\nu} + P \eta_{\mu\nu}, \tag{7}$$

where $\eta \equiv \text{diag}(-1, 1)$ and $\beta = 1/T$ is the inverse temperature. We work in the thermodynamic limit, with volume $V \rightarrow \infty$. It is convenient to study the equation of state using the dimensionless entropy density, defined as

$$s_o(T) \equiv \frac{s}{T}, \qquad s = \frac{dP}{dT}.$$
 (8)

One can show that in two dimensions, $s_o(T)$ is a *C*-function interpolating between the central charges of the UV and IR CFTs. First note that its high and low temperature limits are given by the Cardy formula

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} s_o(T) = \frac{\pi}{3} c_{\rm UV}, \qquad \lim_{T \to 0} s_o(T) = \frac{\pi}{3} c_{\rm IR}.$$
 (9)

If the IR is gapped, $c_{\text{IR}} = 0$. Next, strict subluminality of sound propagation for nonintegrable flows implies that $s_o(T)$ is monotonic: the speed of sound is given by $c_s^2 = dP/d\varepsilon$, or, using $d\varepsilon = Tds$,

$$\frac{1}{c_s^2} = \frac{d\log s}{d\log T} = 1 + \frac{d\log s_o}{d\log T} > 1 \qquad \Longleftrightarrow \qquad s'_o(T) > 0.$$
(10)

This implies $c_{\rm UV} > c_{\rm IR}$, at least for nonintegrable RG flows. Note that this *C*-function is qualitatively different from the one introduced by Zamolodchikov [7], which involves vacuum two-point correlators of the stress tensor instead of thermal correlators. Subluminality of sound therefore offers an alternative proof of the 2d *C*-theorem in flows where hydrodynamics emerges.¹ A related thermodynamical *C*-function has been previously considered in the

¹Even in integrable flows, turning on an irrelevant integrability breaking deformation should restore hydrodynamics, so that one expects $c_s^2 \le 1$ there as well. The *C*-function s_o is illustrated in an integrable flow in Appendix A.2.

literature [8–12], which however is sensitive to the regulation scheme and requires fine-tuning the T = 0 vacuum energy density to zero. We comment further on the relation between these two *C*-functions in Appendix B. The advantage of the *C*-function proposed here, $s_o(T)$, is that it is insensitive to the vacuum energy density. In particular, one can measure it or calculate it at some specific temperature, without needing perfect knowledge of the vacuum energy or equivalently the pressure at T = 0 (should those be difficult to obtain).

The leading correction to the equation of state at high *T* can be obtained from conformal perturbation theory in the UV CFT. Up to quadratic order in the deformation λ , the pressure is given by²

$$P = \frac{T}{V} \log Z$$

$$= \frac{\pi}{6} c_{\rm UV} T^2 - \lambda \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_{\beta} + \frac{\lambda^2}{2} \int_0^\beta d\tau \int dx \, \langle \mathcal{O}(\tau, x) \mathcal{O} \rangle_{\beta} + \cdots .$$
(11)

All correlation functions are evaluated in the UV CFT at finite temperature. In two dimensions, only global primaries in the identity multiplet can acquire thermal expectation values – since $\mathcal{O} \neq \mathbb{1}$ is a relevant scalar, the linear term vanishes. The quadratic term involves the thermal two-point function, which is fixed by conformal invariance³

$$\langle \mathcal{O}(x,\tau)\mathcal{O}\rangle_{\beta} = c_{\rm UV} \left[\frac{(\pi T)^2}{\sinh \frac{\pi}{\beta} (x+i\tau) \sinh \frac{\pi}{\beta} (x-i\tau)} \right]^{\Delta}.$$
 (12)

Integrating over *x* and τ gives [13, 15]:

$$\int_{0}^{\beta} d\tau \int dx \left\langle \mathcal{O}(x)\mathcal{O}\right\rangle_{\beta} = c_{\rm UV} \pi (2\pi T)^{2\Delta - 2} \frac{\Gamma(1 - \Delta)\Gamma(\frac{\Delta}{2})^{2}}{\Gamma(\Delta)\Gamma(1 - \frac{\Delta}{2})^{2}}.$$
(13)

Note that for $1 < \Delta < 2$, a UV (OPE) divergence has been removed before performing the integral. Writing the pressure as

$$P = \frac{\pi}{6} c_{\rm UV} T^2 \left[1 - \frac{\alpha_{\Delta}}{\Delta - 1} \left(\frac{\lambda}{T^{2 - \Delta}} \right)^2 + \cdots \right], \tag{14}$$

with

$$\alpha_{\Delta} = 3(2\pi)^{2(\Delta-1)} \frac{\Gamma(2-\Delta)\Gamma(\frac{\Delta}{2})^2}{\Gamma(\Delta)\Gamma(1-\frac{\Delta}{2})^2} \ge 0, \qquad \text{(for } 0 < \Delta \le 2), \qquad (15)$$

one finds that the dimensionless entropy is

$$s_o = \frac{1}{T} \frac{dP}{dT} = \frac{\pi}{3} c_{\rm UV} \left[1 - \alpha_\Delta \left(\frac{\lambda}{T^{2-\Delta}} \right)^2 + \cdots \right].$$
(16)

Since only temperature independent UV divergences were removed in (13), these do not contribute to the entropy so that s_o is UV insensitive as anticipated above (and in contrast to

²This expansion is free of IR divergences as long as $\Delta > 0$. There are power-law UV divergences when $\Delta > 1$, which can be removed with temperature independent counterterms. Finally, there are physical (temperature dependent) logarithmic UV divergences at order λ^n in conformal perturbation theory when $\Delta = 2 - \frac{2}{n}$, for n = 1, 2, 3, ... [13, 14]. Examples with n = 1 and 2 are discussed in Appendix A – for n > 2 these terms with logarithmic enhancements do not control the leading correction to the equation of state.

³We have normalized the deforming operator as $\lim_{x\to 0} \mathcal{O}(x)\mathcal{O} \sim c_{UV}/x^{2\Delta}$ rather than $1/x^{2\Delta}$. This is unimportant when $c_{UV} \sim 1$, but when $c_{UV} \gg 1$ it guarantees that the relative correction to the equation of state is order 1 at temperatures $T \sim \Lambda \equiv \lambda^{1/(2-\Delta)}$.

a previously proposed thermodynamic *C*-function, see Appendix B). The correction to s_o is negative as expected from Eq. (10) – degrees of freedom are lost as *T* is decreased. Sound therefore propagates subluminally

$$c_s^2 = 1 - 2(2 - \Delta)\alpha_{\Delta} \left(\frac{\lambda}{T^{2-\Delta}}\right)^2 + \dots < 1, \qquad (17)$$

and the speed of sound c_s approaches the conformal value $c_s = 1$ from below as the temperature is increased. These expressions diverge for $\Delta = 0$ – although no unitary CFT has a nontrivial operator of vanishing dimension, the free scalar with a relevant deformation ϕ^n formally realizes this possibility. This case is treated in Appendix A. For marginally relevant deformations $\Delta = 2$ this correction vanishes. The first correction to the equation of state arises at order λ^3 , and a logarithmically enhanced contribution arises at order λ^4 [13] – resumming the leading large logarithms⁴ and taking the high temperature limit leads to a correction

$$\delta c_s \sim \frac{\delta s_o}{s_o} \sim -\frac{1}{(\log T/\Lambda)^3} \,. \tag{18}$$

3 Hydrodynamics

The real time dynamics of interacting systems at finite temperature is described by hydrodynamics at sufficiently late times $t \gg \tau_{eq}$ (see [16] for an introduction to relativistic hydrodynamics). The equilibration time τ_{eq} can be interpreted as the UV cutoff of the effective hydrodynamics description. In this regime, the only surviving excitations are those associated with conserved quantities. For QFTs with no internal continuous global symmetry, these are the stress tensor components \mathcal{T}^{00} and \mathcal{T}^{0x} , whose lifetimes are protected by the conservation laws

$$\partial_{\mu}\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{19}$$

We can parametrize these long-lived collective excitations (i.e., sound modes) either directly in terms of the local energy density $\varepsilon(x)$ and momentum density $\pi(x) \equiv \mathcal{T}^{0x}$, or alternatively, in terms of the local temperature T(x) and velocity $u^{\mu}(x)$, satisfying $u_{\mu}u^{\mu} = -1$. The latter choice is often useful for making the Lorentz invariance of the underlying QFT more manifest.

At late times in the thermal state, correlation functions of any neutral operator of the QFT can be expanded in terms of these hydrodynamic degrees of freedom in a derivative expansion – these operator matching equations are called *constitutive relations*. For the stress tensor, the most general constitutive relation up to first order in derivatives is

$$\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} = (\varepsilon + P)u^{\mu}u^{\nu} + P\eta^{\mu\nu} - \zeta \partial_{\lambda}u^{\lambda}(\eta^{\mu\nu} + u^{\mu}u^{\nu}) + O(\partial^{2}), \qquad (20)$$

where ζ is the bulk viscosity.⁵ Note that there is no shear viscosity in two dimensions. For notational simplicity, we have suppressed the dependence on position, but it is important to note that the densities on the right-hand side of (20) are all *local* (i.e., $\varepsilon(x)$ and P(x)).

For d > 2, all interactions for the hydrodynamic modes are technically irrelevant and the late-time dynamics in generic QFTs is governed by diffusion, such that the collective

⁴More explicitly, the β function for the coupling λ is $\beta_{\lambda} = (2 - \Delta)\lambda - C\lambda^2$, with $C = C_{OOO}$ being an OPE coefficient, so the running coupling $\lambda(T) \sim \frac{1}{\lambda_0^{-1} - C \log(T/T_0)}$ at $\Delta = 2$. Then $\delta P \sim \langle \mathcal{T}_{\mu}^{\mu} \rangle \sim \beta_{\lambda} \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle \sim \beta_{\lambda} \lambda \langle \mathcal{OO} \rangle$, and $\beta_{\lambda} \lambda \sim \frac{1}{C^2 \log^3 T}$ after using the running coupling at large *T*.

⁵A term $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} \supset a_1 u^{(\mu} \partial^{\nu)} T$ was removed with a field redefinition $u^{\mu} \rightarrow u^{\mu} + \delta u^{\mu}$, and similarly for $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} \supset u^{\mu} u^{\nu} (a_2 \partial \cdot u + a_3 u \cdot \partial T)$ using $T \rightarrow T + \delta T$. Finally, the leading equations of motion $u_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ were used to absorb a term $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} \supset a_4 (\eta^{\mu\nu} + u^{\mu} u^{\nu}) u \cdot \partial T$ in the bulk viscosity, up to higher derivative terms.

excitations largely propagate freely, but dissipate due to the viscosities. All late-time thermal correlators are therefore determined by the two-point functions of the densities $\varepsilon(x)$, $\pi(x)$ (or equivalently T(x), $u^{\mu}(x)$). However, as we will show below, in two dimensions there are relevant interactions, which significantly alter the late-time dynamics. Before discussing the effects of interactions in 2d, though, we briefly review the usual linearized analysis applicable in higher dimensions.

The typical approach is to expand the densities around their thermal expectation values,

$$\varepsilon(x) = \varepsilon + \delta \varepsilon(x), \qquad \pi(x) = 0 + \delta \pi(x),$$
 (21)

or equivalently,

$$T(x) = T + \delta T(x), \qquad u^{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \delta v^2(x)}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ \delta v(x) \end{pmatrix}, \tag{22}$$

with the relation between these two parametrizations given by

$$\delta \varepsilon(x) \simeq \frac{d\varepsilon}{dT} \,\delta T(x), \qquad \delta \pi(x) \simeq (\varepsilon + P) \,\delta \nu(x).$$
 (23)

Thermal correlation functions can be obtained by inserting (20) into (19), expanding around the thermal background to linear order in the fluctuations $\delta \varepsilon$, $\delta \pi$ (or δT , δv), and solving for the densities in terms of the sources [17], see [16] for details. This procedure leads to the following retarded Green's function for momentum density:

$$G^{R}_{\mathcal{T}_{0x}\mathcal{T}_{0x}}(\omega,k) \simeq sT \frac{c_{s}^{2}k^{2} - iD\omega k^{2}}{c_{s}^{2}k^{2} - \omega^{2} - iD\omega k^{2}},$$
(24)

with diffusion constant⁶ given by

$$D \equiv \frac{\zeta}{sT} \,. \tag{25}$$

The Fourier transform of the Wightman function can be obtained from (24) using the general relation

$$\langle AA \rangle(\omega,k) = \frac{2}{1 - e^{-\beta\omega}} \operatorname{Im} G^{R}_{AA}(\omega,k) \simeq \frac{2}{\beta\omega} \operatorname{Im} G^{R}_{AA}(\omega,k),$$
(26)

where in the last step we used the fact that $\beta \omega \ll 1$ in the hydrodynamic regime. For the energy density, this gives

$$\langle \mathcal{T}_{0x} \mathcal{T}_{0x} \rangle(\omega, k) \simeq 2T^2 s \frac{D\omega^2 k^2}{(\omega^2 - c_s^2 k^2)^2 + (D\omega k^2)^2}$$

$$\simeq \frac{sT^2}{Dk^2} \frac{\omega}{c_s k} \left[g_{\text{diff}} \left(\frac{\omega - c_s k}{\frac{1}{2}Dk^2} \right) - g_{\text{diff}} \left(\frac{\omega + c_s k}{\frac{1}{2}Dk^2} \right) \right].$$

$$(27)$$

In the second line we have separated the contributions from the two poles and expressed the result in terms of a 'diffusion scaling function' $g_{\text{diff}}(x) \equiv \frac{2}{1+x^2}$. In two dimensions, all other components of the stress tensor Green's function can be obtained from (27) through the Ward identity [18] $p^{\mu} \langle T_{\mu\nu} T_{\lambda\rho} \rangle(p) = \text{contact terms.}$

However, Eq. (27) does not correctly describe stress tensor thermal correlators in generic two-dimensional QFTs. We have incorrectly assumed in Eq. (21) that hydrodynamic fluctuations could be linearized around equilibrium. It is well known, but perhaps not entirely appreciated

⁶While *D* is more accurately a sound attenuation (or damping) rate, in a slight abuse of language we will refer to it as a diffusion constant.



in the high-energy literature, that sound modes in two dimensions lead to large hydrodynamic fluctuations. In other words, there are relevant interactions, which lead to a breakdown of diffusive spreading of ballistic modes and trigger a flow to a new 'dissipative fixed point' in the Burgers-Kardar-Parisi-Zhang (KPZ) universality class [19–22]. Let us review how this arises in the present context. Expanding the hydrodynamic equations (19) and (20) in perturbations gives the equations of motion

$$0 = \partial_t \delta \varepsilon + \nabla \delta \pi + \frac{1}{\varepsilon + P} \partial_t (\delta \pi)^2 + \cdots, \qquad (28a)$$

$$0 = \partial_t \delta \pi + P'(\varepsilon) \nabla \delta \varepsilon - D \nabla^2 \delta \pi + \frac{1}{2} P''(\varepsilon) \nabla (\delta \varepsilon)^2 + \frac{1}{\varepsilon + P} \nabla (\delta \pi)^2 + \cdots,$$
(28b)

where $\nabla \equiv \partial_x$. The ellipses \cdots contain terms that are higher order in derivatives or fluctuations $O(\partial \delta^3, \partial^2 \delta^2)$. To leading order, we can factorize these coupled differential equations by introducing the right- and left-moving modes

$$\pi_{\pm} \equiv \delta \pi \pm c_s \delta \varepsilon \,, \tag{29}$$

with $c_s \equiv \sqrt{P'(\varepsilon)}$, obtaining

$$0 = \partial_t \pi_+ + c_s \nabla \pi_+ - \frac{1}{2} D \nabla^2 \pi_+ + \frac{1}{2} \kappa \nabla \pi_+^2 + \cdots,$$
(30a)

$$0 = \partial_t \pi_- - c_s \nabla \pi_- - \frac{1}{2} D \nabla^2 \pi_- + \frac{1}{2} \kappa \nabla \pi_-^2 + \cdots,$$
 (30b)

with coefficient for the nonlinear term

$$\kappa = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{P''(\varepsilon)}{P'(\varepsilon)} + \frac{1 - P'(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon + P} \right).$$
(31)

Here we have ignored interactions between the two modes as these are irrelevant [22]⁷. The linear terms for these modes reproduce the two poles $\omega \simeq \pm c_s k - \frac{i}{2}Dk^2$ in Eq. (27).

The fact that interactions are relevant in 2d follows from a simple scaling argument. Let us focus on the right-moving π_+ mode for concreteness and work in the coordinates $x' = x - c_s t$, t' = t where the equation of motion simplifies to

$$0 = \partial_{t'}\pi_{+} - \frac{1}{2}D\nabla^{2}\pi_{+} + \frac{1}{2}\kappa\nabla\pi_{+}^{2} + \cdots .$$
(32)

In these coordinates, the linearized density correlator from (27) is diffusive,

$$\langle \pi_+ \pi_+ \rangle (t, x' = 0) \sim \frac{sT^2}{|Dt|^{1/2}},$$
(33)

showing that densities scale as $\pi_+ \sim \omega'^{1/4} \sim k^{1/2}$. The interaction term $\nabla \pi_+^2 \sim k^2$ is therefore *more relevant* than the diffusive term $\nabla^2 \pi_+ \sim k^{5/2}$. At late times, hydrodynamic modes in 2d are therefore strongly-interacting, unlike in higher dimensions.

The hydrodynamics that arises from Eq. (32) has been thoroughly studied (see [22] for a review). Rather than being diffusive, it is described by the KPZ universality class: the correlation function in Eq. (27) is replaced by⁸

$$\langle \mathcal{T}_{0x}\mathcal{T}_{0x}\rangle(\omega,k) \simeq \frac{sT^2}{2\mathcal{D}k^{3/2}} \frac{\omega}{c_s k} \left[g_{\text{KPZ}} \left(\frac{\omega - c_s k}{\mathcal{D}|k|^{3/2}} \right) - g_{\text{KPZ}} \left(\frac{\omega + c_s k}{\mathcal{D}|k|^{3/2}} \right) \right].$$
(34)

⁷Indeed, in coordinates where the π_+ correlator scales as (33), π_- decays exponentially $\langle \pi_- \pi_- \rangle (t, x' = 0) \sim \frac{e^{-t/D}}{\sqrt{Dt}}$. This factorization, arising due to the peculiarities of 1+1d kinematics, is reminiscent of the holomorphic factorization of CFTs.

⁸This expression holds near the singularities $\omega \simeq \pm c_s k$, where the correlator is large. Away from the singularities, the decoupling between π_+ and π_- is no longer valid (c.f. footnote 7); the solution to the resulting coupled KPZ equation is not known in general [22]. The correlator (34) may therefore be multiplied by a function of $\frac{\omega}{c_s k}$ equal to unity when $\omega = \pm c_s k$. Its $k \to 0$ limit must however take the form in (34) because \mathcal{T}_{0x} is a conserved quantity. We will only use these two properties of this function in what follows.

Sci Post

Here g_{KPZ} is the KPZ scaling function and the parameter \mathcal{D} is fixed in terms of the equation of state through the interaction κ in (31)

$$\mathcal{D} = \sqrt{T \chi_{\pi_+ \pi_+}} |\kappa| = \sqrt{2sT^2} |\kappa|, \qquad (35)$$

where the susceptibility associated with π_+ was evaluated using (29) and (23):

$$\chi_{\pi_+\pi_+} = \chi_{\pi\pi} + c_s^2 \chi_{\varepsilon\varepsilon} \equiv \frac{d\pi}{d\nu} + c_s^2 T \frac{d\varepsilon}{dT} = 2sT.$$
(36)

The KPZ scaling function is not known analytically but known numerically to high precision [23]; it has the following properties

$$\int \frac{dx}{2\pi} g_{\text{KPZ}}(x) = 1, \qquad \lim_{x \to \infty} g_{\text{KPZ}}(x) = \frac{2a}{x^{7/3}}, \qquad \lim_{x \to 0} g_{\text{KPZ}}(x) = b, \qquad (37)$$

with $a \approx 0.417816$ and $b \approx 3.43730$. We comment on a few similarities and differences between KPZ and diffusive correlators. Both the KPZ hydrodynamic correlator (34) and the diffusive one (27) saturate the sum rules at small wavevector⁹ $k \ll T$

$$\int \frac{d\omega}{\pi} \frac{1}{\omega} \operatorname{Im} G^{R}_{\mathcal{T}_{0x}}(\omega, k) = \operatorname{Re} G^{R}_{\mathcal{T}_{0x}}(\omega = 0, k) = sT, \qquad (38a)$$

$$\int \frac{d\omega}{\pi} \frac{1}{\omega} \operatorname{Im} G^{R}_{\mathcal{T}_{00}\mathcal{T}_{00}}(\omega, k) = \operatorname{Re} G^{R}_{\mathcal{T}_{00}\mathcal{T}_{00}}(\omega = 0, k) = T \frac{d\varepsilon}{dT}, \qquad (38b)$$

as can be checked by using (26) and $\int \frac{dx}{2\pi} g_{\text{KPZ}}(x) = \int \frac{dx}{2\pi} g_{\text{diff}}(x) = 1$. However, in the KPZ regime, the bulk viscosity is singular at low frequencies

$$\zeta(\omega) \equiv \lim_{k \to 0} \frac{1}{\omega} \operatorname{Im} G^{R}_{\mathcal{T}_{xx}}(\omega, k) = sT \frac{\frac{7}{3}a\mathcal{D}^{4/3}}{\omega^{1/3}}, \qquad (39)$$

with *a* given below Eq. (37). Similar behavior has been found for heat or charge conductivities in 1+1d non-relativistic systems [21,24,25]; in the present relativistic context the heat conductivity vanishes because the energy current is a conserved density.

It is a striking feature of dissipation in the KPZ universality class that real time correlation functions (34) are entirely fixed in terms of thermodynamic quantities, in contrast to (27) which involves an unknown diffusion constant. In relativistic two dimensional QFTs at high temperatures $T \gg \lambda^{1/(2-\Delta)} \equiv \Lambda$, the thermodynamic results from Sec. 2 can be used in (31) and (35) to obtain the KPZ transport parameter

$$\mathcal{D}\sqrt{T} \simeq \sqrt{\frac{6}{\pi c_{\rm UV}}} (2-\Delta)(3-\Delta)\alpha_{\Delta} \left(\frac{\Lambda}{T}\right)^{2(2-\Delta)} + \cdots.$$
 (40)

Breaking of conformal invariance by the deformation (1) therefore has two consequences: First, it opens a window for hydrodynamics by allowing for $c_s < 1$, and second, it produces nonlinearities in the hydrodynamic equations of motion (30), ultimately leading to large hydrodynamic fluctuations and dissipation in the KPZ universality class with transport parameter given by (40).

In certain situations (notably when $c_{\rm UV} \gg 1$), \mathcal{D} is small so that there may be an intermediate window with diffusive hydrodynamics, before a cross-over time when the system ultimately enters KPZ universality. This time scale can be found by balancing the last two terms in (32),

$$\tau_{\text{cross-over}} \sim \frac{D^3}{D^4} \sim \frac{1}{T} c_{\text{UV}}^2 (DT)^3 \left(\frac{T}{\Lambda}\right)^{8(2-\Delta)},\tag{41}$$

where in the last step we used the high temperature expansion $T \gg \Lambda$ for \mathcal{D} in (40).

⁹One can estimate the contribution to the sum rule from large frequencies using the CFT correlator $\frac{1}{T} \int_{T}^{\infty} d\omega \langle \mathcal{T}_{0x} \mathcal{T}_{0x} \rangle \sim c_{\text{UV}} k^2 \ll s_o T^2$ which is indeed suppressed compared to (38) when $k \ll T$.

4 Derivation of the Bound

Let us start by reviewing (a suitable generalization of) the thermalization bound of Ref. [2]. A retarded Green's function $G^R(t, x)$ involving a hydrodynamic mode with dispersion relation $\omega \simeq c_s k - i\mathcal{D}k^z$ is exponentially suppressed except for $||x| - c_s t| \leq (\mathcal{D}t)^{1/z}$. At early times and for z > 1, these points are outside of the lightcone |x| = t, where the commutator in G^R vanishes by causality. These two statements can be reconciled only if hydrodynamics emerges at later times, leading to the bound in Eq. (3) on τ_{eq} . For the hydrodynamic correlators of 2d QFTs in Eq. (34), KPZ dissipation with $z = \frac{3}{2}$ leads to

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \tau_{\rm KPZ \ bound} \equiv \frac{\mathcal{D}^2}{(1-c_s)^3} = \frac{1}{T} \frac{1}{s_o} \left[\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{(1-c_s)^3} \left(\frac{d\log c_s}{d\log s} + 1 - c_s^2 \right)^2 \right],\tag{42}$$

where we expressed \mathcal{D} in terms of the equation of state using (35) and (31). This is a bound on the equilibration time of 2d QFTs involving only equilibrium thermodynamic quantities. QFTs that do not have a large number of degrees of freedom have $s_o \sim 1$ and therefore satisfy the 'Planckian' bound $\tau_{eq} \gtrsim \frac{1}{T}$ [6], as long as the equation of state leads to a $\gtrsim O(1)$ quantity in square brackets in (42). At high temperatures $T \gg \Lambda$, one can in fact show that this quantity is always large, so that 2d QFTs (with $s_o \sim 1$) always thermalize much more slowly than the Planckian time $\frac{1}{T}$ in this regime. The same is true at low temperatures, see Sec. 5.2. In the remainder of this section, we focus on the high temperature limit $T \gg \Lambda$. Using the expressions for c_s (17) and \mathcal{D} (40) obtained from conformal perturbation theory and dropping numerical coefficients, the bound for $T \gg \Lambda$ becomes

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \tau_{\rm KPZ \ bound} \sim \frac{1}{T} \frac{1}{(2 - \Delta) \alpha_{\Delta} c_{\rm UV}} \left(\frac{T}{\Lambda}\right)^{2(2 - \Delta)}, \qquad (0 < \Delta < 2).$$
(43)

This is the result quoted in Eq. (4). For marginally relevant deformations ($\Delta = 2$), the logarithmic corrections to the equation found in (18) give

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \tau_{\rm KPZ \ bound} \sim \frac{1}{T} \frac{1}{c_{\rm UV}} \left(\log \frac{T}{\Lambda} \right)^3, \qquad (\Delta = 2).$$
 (44)

The case $\Delta = 0$, which applies to a massless scalar with ϕ^n deformation, is discussed in Appendix A.3 – a result similar to (43) holds.

In certain situations, diffusive hydrodynamics will emerge first, before ultimately settling to KPZ hydrodynamics after the cross-over time (41). In this situation it is more pertinent to define thermalization as the emergence of diffusive hydrodynamics. The bound on the emergence of diffusion can be found by setting z = 2 in (3), leading to

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \tau_{\rm diff.\ bound} \equiv \frac{D}{(1-c_s)^2} = \frac{D}{D_{\rm cr}} \tau_{\rm KPZ\ bound},$$
(45)

where in the last step we expressed the result in terms of a critical diffusive constant which in the high temperature limit reads

$$TD_{\rm cr} \equiv \frac{T\mathcal{D}^2}{1-c_s} \sim \left(\frac{\Lambda}{T}\right)^{2(2-\Delta)} \frac{(2-\Delta)\alpha_{\Delta}}{c_{\rm UV}} \,. \tag{46}$$

In this notation, the cross-over time (41) is

$$\tau_{\text{cross-over}} \sim \left(\frac{D}{D_{\text{cr}}}\right)^3 \tau_{\text{KPZ bound}} \,.$$
(47)



Figure 2: Hydrodynamic timescales as a function of the diffusion constant *D*, for $T \gg \Lambda$. For $D \leq D_{\rm cr}$, hydrodynamics is governed by KPZ (gray region), with the equilibration time bounded by $\tau_{\rm KPZ \ bound}$ (black line). For $D \gtrsim D_{\rm cr}$, the equilibration time satisfies a stronger diffusive bound $\tau_{\rm diff. \ bound}$ (blue dashed line); hydrodynamics is initially governed by diffusion (blue region) before transitioning to KPZ at $\tau_{\rm cross-over}$ (gray dotted line). The equilibration time therefore satisfies the bound $\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \max(\tau_{\rm KPZ \ bound}, \tau_{\rm diff. \ bound})$ (red line).

The fate of thermalization then depends on how the diffusion constant *D* compares to the value (46), as shown in Fig. 2. If $D \leq D_{cr}$, then the cross-over to KPZ physics (47) happens before diffusion can kick in; the only hydrodynamic regime is KPZ and the bound (43) is unchanged. If instead $D \gtrsim D_{cr}$, diffusion can emerge before KPZ physics – the appropriate bound is then (45), which is stronger than the KPZ bound (43) by a factor of D/D_{cr}

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \tau_{\rm diff.\ bound} \sim \frac{D}{D_{\rm cr}} \tau_{\rm KPZ\ bound} \,.$$
 (48)

In this situation, the cross-over time (47) determines when the system ultimately settles to KPZ dissipation.

4.1 Identification of the long-lived modes

The slow thermalization of 2d QFTs suggests the existence of long-lived non-hydrodynamic modes.¹⁰ At high temperatures, the physics is governed by a CFT; we start by considering the case where that CFT is free, and then discuss the general case. If the UV CFT is free (i.e. the QFT is asymptotically free) these long-lived modes are particles, and – ignoring IR issues which we comment on further at the end of this section – thermalization can be studied perturbatively using Boltzmann kinetic theory as in higher dimensions (see, e.g., [26]). In this case the equilibration time can be estimated from a thermally averaged cross-section $\langle \sigma \rangle \sim \lambda^2 / T^{2(2-\Delta)}$ as

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \sim \frac{1}{s\nu\langle\sigma\rangle} \sim \frac{1}{T} \frac{1}{c_{\rm UV}} \frac{T^{2(2-\Delta)}}{\lambda^2},\tag{49}$$

showing that the bound (43) is parametrically saturated¹¹. However, the bound (43) holds for any UV CFTs, not only for those with a quasiparticle description. In the following, we give an

¹⁰We thank Sean Hartnoll and Tom Hartman for discussions that led to the argument presented in this section. ¹¹KPZ dissipation can moreover be derived in certain weakly coupled 2d QFTs [27, 28].

argument for the saturation of the bound that does not rely on kinetic theory.

When thermalization is impeded by a single slow operator, the equilibration time can be obtained in a systematic expansion using the *memory function* formalism to compute the small relaxation rate of the slow operator [29, 30] (see [31] for a recent review). In the present situation, we expect an infinite tower of operators to be approximately conserved at high temperatures due to the Virasoro symmetry (or KdV charges) in the UV. However one can nevertheless estimate the equilibration time by choosing one of them (we will comment below on situations where this estimate is too naive). The first KdV charge whose conservation is broken by the relevant deformation \mathcal{O} is [32]

$$Q_3 \equiv \int dx : \mathcal{T}^2 :, \qquad \partial_t Q_3 \sim \lambda \int dx \, \widetilde{\mathcal{O}} \,, \tag{50}$$

where $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}$ is a level-3 Virasoro descendent of \mathcal{O} (only the global primary $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}} \supset L_{-3}\mathcal{O}$ will contribute below). The memory function formalism roughly amounts to modeling the correlator of the long lived operator as $G_{Q_3Q_3}^R(\omega) \simeq \chi_{Q_3Q_3} \frac{\Gamma}{-i\omega+\Gamma}$ and working perturbatively in its rate relaxation Γ (or the deformation λ) to obtain the following Kubo formula [31]

$$\Gamma \simeq \frac{1}{\chi_{Q_3Q_3}} \lim_{\omega \to 0} \frac{1}{2T} \langle \dot{Q}_3 \dot{Q}_3 \rangle_\beta(\omega) \sim \lambda^2 \frac{1}{\chi_{Q_3Q_3}} \lim_{\omega \to 0} \frac{1}{T} \langle \tilde{\mathcal{O}} \tilde{\mathcal{O}} \rangle_\beta(\omega).$$
(51)

Here the $\lambda \to 0$ limit is taken before $\omega \to 0$, so that the Wightman functions (related to the retarded Green's function by (26)) are evaluated in the unperturbed CFT. Since $\chi_{Q_3Q_3} \sim c_{UV}^2 T^6$ and $\langle \widetilde{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{O}} \rangle \sim c_{UV}^2 T^{2\Delta+4}$ one finds

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \sim \frac{1}{\Gamma} \sim \frac{1}{T} \left(\frac{T}{\Lambda}\right)^{2(2-\Delta)}.$$
(52)

This suggests that, at least for theories with $c_{\rm UV} \sim 1$, the bound (43) is parametrically saturated. We expect this argument to hold in generic 2d QFTs, with no small parameter.

There are three situations where the analysis is slightly more subtle: (i) In integrable or nearly integrable flows (such as the one considered in Appendix A.2), there exist operators that are much longer lived than the spin-4 current in (50), leading to a further parametric enhancement in the thermalization time, so that the bound (43) is not tight. (ii) In theories with a large number of degrees of freedom $c_{UV} \gg 1$, although the operator (50) is very long-lived it decouples from the 'single-trace' sector¹² and therefore does not preclude thermalization. We in fact expect certain $c_{\rm UV} \gg 1$ theories to thermalize fast, $\tau_{\rm eq} \sim \frac{1}{T}$, see Sec. 5.4. (iii) Finally, IR divergences at finite temperature can make the perturbative expansion more subtle. While some of these divergences can be resolved within perturbation theory by resumming hard thermal loops [34, 35], others are due to truly non-perturbative dynamics, such as the 'Linde problem' at the scale $\sim g^2 T$ in QCD [36]. This breakdown of perturbation theory also affects real time quantities [37-41]. In Appendix A.3, we study a 2d QFT - the free scalar with a ϕ^n deformation – where such nonperturbative dynamics already arises in the first correction to the pressure, and in the leading contribution to transport quantities. For example, for a deformation $\lambda \phi^4$ at high temperatures $T \gg \sqrt{\lambda}$ the pressure is $P - \frac{\pi}{6}T^2 \sim -\lambda^{1/3}T^{4/3}$ and our thermalization bound becomes $T \tau_{eq} \gtrsim T^{2/3} / \lambda^{1/3}$.

It would be interesting to study the dynamics of these slow excitations more systematically, and we encourage the community to do so, perhaps in the context of 'generalized hydrodynamics' with small relaxation rates (see, e.g., Refs. [42–44]) applied to the KdV charges.

¹²More precisely, in the large c_{UV} limit, Q_3 and all the other KdV charges Q_{2k-1} become redundant with the conserved energy from the stress tensor \mathcal{T} , up to $1/c_{UV}$ corrections; see e.g. [33].

5 Extensions

5.1 Higher dimensions

Although Eq. (3) holds in any dimension d, in d > 2 it is not as constraining since the speed of sound does not approach the lightcone at high temperatures $\lim_{T\to\infty} c_s^2 = \frac{1}{d-1}$, and our bound (4) does not hold – we therefore have no reason to doubt the expectation that generic strongly interacting QFTs in d > 2 have 'Planckian' thermalization $\tau_{eq} \sim 1/T$ [6].

However one can still study the leading corrections to the high *T* equation of state using conformal perturbation theory as in Sec. 2, although this expansion is only controlled if the UV CFT has a finite thermal mass (Appendix A.3 shows a simple example where the expansion is not controlled, see also [45] for a related discussion). If the relevant deformation breaks a symmetry, \mathcal{O} does not have a thermal expectation value in the UV so that like in d = 2 the linear λ term in Eq. (11) vanishes. The leading correction to the entropy density is therefore negative $\propto -\lambda^2$ as in Eq. (16), and the conformal value of the speed of sound is approached from below as the temperature is increased. This was found in 4d holographic models in [46, 47]; we have shown more generally that this result is a consequence of conformal perturbation when the deformation does not have a thermal expectation value $\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_{\beta} = 0$. Instead, when the relevant deformation breaks no symmetry of the UV CFT, it should acquire a thermal expectation value in the UV – in this case the leading correction to the pressure is instead

$$\delta P \simeq -\lambda \langle \mathcal{O} \rangle_{\beta} = -\lambda b_{\mathcal{O}} T^{\Delta}, \qquad (53)$$

where generically one expects $b_{\mathcal{O}} = O(1)$ [48,49]. The correction to the speed of sound at high temperatures is then

$$\frac{1}{c_s^2} \simeq (d-1) + \Delta (d-\Delta) \frac{b_{\mathcal{O}}}{b_T} \frac{\lambda}{T^{d-\Delta}} + O\Big(\frac{\lambda^2}{T^{2(d-\Delta)}}\Big),\tag{54}$$

where we wrote $b_T \equiv \lim_{T\to\infty} s_o(T)$. This correction can have either sign, depending on the sign of λ , implying that the speed of sound can approach the conformal value either from below or above in d > 2 (for this same reason, $s_o(T)$ cannot be a *C*-function in d > 2 [10, 12]). As an explicit example, one can consider the 3d O(2) CFT with a mass deformation of either sign $\pm m^2 \phi^2$.

5.2 Irrelevant deformations and low temperature limit

In this work we have focused on the high temperature limit of QFTs obtained from UV CFTs with a relevant deformation. Similar results apply to the low temperature limit of two-dimensional effective field theories (EFT), or CFTs deformed by irrelevant operators. One interesting difference arises because the scalar deformation \mathcal{O} can now be a Virasoro descendant of the identity. In this case \mathcal{O} acquires a thermal expectation value in the CFT, and the leading correction to the equation of state is linear in the deformation (as happens for d > 2, see Eq. (53)). The lightest such scalar is $\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{T}\bar{\mathcal{T}}$. In the context of effective field theory, one expects all irrelevant operators to be present as deformations of the CFT, so that the theory is described by

$$S_{\rm QFT} = S_{\rm CFT} + \sum_{i} \lambda_{i} \int d^{2}x \,\mathcal{O}_{i} - \lambda_{\mathcal{T}\bar{\mathcal{T}}} \int d^{2}x \,\mathcal{T}\bar{\mathcal{T}}\,, \tag{55}$$

where the \mathcal{O}_i have dimension $2 \leq \Delta_i$ and we have separated the $\mathcal{T}\overline{\mathcal{T}}$ term; although it is not the lightest irrelevant deformation, its contribution is enhanced because it is only linear in

Sci Post

coupling, and the correction to the speed of sound at low temperatures takes the form

$$\frac{1}{c_s^2} \simeq 1 - \sum_i \alpha_{\Delta_i} \lambda_i^2 T^{2(\Delta_i - 2)} + \lambda_{\mathcal{T}\bar{\mathcal{T}}} c_{\mathrm{IR}} T^2 + \cdots, \qquad (56)$$

(we have absorbed positive numbers in the couplings λ). If there are irrelevant deformations with dimension $2 \le \Delta_i < 3$, these will control the leading correction to the equation of state, and will give positive contributions to the *C*-function $s_o(T)$ and $\frac{1}{c_s^2}$, as expected by causality and mirroring the high temperature limit studied in Sec. 2 (notice that now $\alpha_{\Delta} < 0$ for $2 < \Delta < 3$, c.f. Eq. (15)).

However, if there is no irrelevant scalar of dimension $2 \leq \Delta_i < 3$ (or if their coefficients λ_i are fine-tuned to zero), the leading correction to the equation of state seems to be non-sign-definite. Causality then requires the coefficient $\lambda_{T\bar{T}}$ to be positive in any QFT with a Lorentz invariant UV completion. When S_{CFT} is a free scalar, this is a well known result [50]. In the context of the $T\bar{T}$ deformation, the relation between superluminal sound and the 'wrong sign' of $\lambda_{T\bar{T}}$ is also well known [51–53]. Our argument however does not require integrability: $\lambda_{T\bar{T}}$ must be positive even in the presence of an infinite tower of irrelevant terms in (55) with dimension $\Delta_i > 3$. In fact, if the leading irrelevant scalar has dimension $3 < \Delta_i < 4$, its contribution to Eq. (56) is instead *negative*, because now $\alpha_{\Delta_i} > 0$. In this case the $T\bar{T}$ term arrives just in time to guarantee subluminality, and its coefficient cannot vanish but must satisfy, roughly, $\lambda_{T\bar{T}} \gtrsim |\lambda_i|^{2/(\Delta_i-2)}$. In the absence of irrelevant scalars of dimension $2 \leq \Delta_i < 4$ and if $\lambda_{T\bar{T}}$ is fine-tuned to zero, a similar statement can be made for the coefficient of the $TT\bar{T}\bar{T}$ term, etc.

The fact that sound approaches the speed of light at low temperatures implies a strong bound on thermalization, as in the high temperature limit discussed in Sec. 4. Depending on whether the theory has an irrelevant scalar O_i with dimension $2 \le \Delta_i < 3$, the bound will either be controlled by that scalar deformation or the $T\bar{T}$ deformation, and one has

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \frac{1}{T} \frac{1}{c_{\rm IR}} \left(\frac{\Lambda}{T}\right)^p, \quad \text{with} \quad \begin{cases} p = 2(\Delta - 2), & \text{if } \Delta \equiv \min_i \Delta_i < 3, \\ p = 2, & \text{if } \Delta \ge 3, \end{cases}$$
(57)

for $T \ll \Lambda$. Following the arguments made in Sec. 4.1, one can show that this bound is typically saturated if $\min_i \Delta_i < 3$. Instead, if $T\bar{T}$ controls the leading correction to the equation of state, the bound is loose: sound is made subluminal without a proportional decrease in the equilibration time.

5.3 Extra symmetries

The results obtained so far straightforwardly generalize to QFTs with additional global symmetries, abelian or non-abelian. Each continuous symmetry will lead to a new hydrodynamic degree of freedom; while these have subtle dynamics because of the large hydrodynamic fluctuations [22, 24, 25], the KPZ sound mode is essentially unchanged and our bound (4) follows.

This logic even applies to QFTs coupled to a finite chemical potential μ . We focus here on a U(1) symmetry for concreteness. In higher dimensions, CFTs at finite density can have a non-trivial equation of state $P(T,\mu) = T^d f(\mu/T)$. However in d = 2 the Virasoro and current algebra entirely fixes the equation of state (since correlators of spin-1 currents on the cylinder are completely fixed by 2d conformal invariance) to [54–56]

$$P(T,\mu) = \frac{\pi}{6}cT^2 + \frac{k}{2}\mu^2.$$
(58)

The densities can be obtained from the pressure as $dP = sdT + nd\mu - \text{Eq.}$ (58) leads to $(\delta s \ \delta n) = \chi \begin{pmatrix} \delta T \\ \delta \mu \end{pmatrix}$ with a diagonal and constant matrix of susceptibilities

$$\chi_{ss} = \frac{\pi}{3}c, \qquad \chi_{nn} = k, \qquad \chi_{sn} = 0.$$
 (59)

The speed of sound at finite density is given by (see, e.g., [16])

$$c_s^2 = \left. \frac{dP}{d\varepsilon} \right|_{SN} = \frac{(s \ n) \ \chi^{-1} \left(\frac{s}{n} \right)}{sT + n\mu}.$$
(60)

Evaluating this for a constant susceptibility matrix gives $c_s^2 = 1$. Two-dimensional CFTs at finite temperature and density therefore have no room for hydrodynamics; consequently, thermalization is also strictly constrained in the high and low temperature limits of finite density QFTs, and similar arguments to those of the previous sections lead to the bound (4) at high temperatures and (57) at low temperatures.

5.4 Large $c_{\rm UV}$ theories¹³

In theories with a large number of degrees of freedom $c_{\rm UV} \gg 1$, the bound (43) becomes weak, but a diffusion bound of the form (45) still gives a strong constraint at high temperatures. Physically, hydrodynamic fluctuations are suppressed by thermodynamic susceptibilities which scale with $c_{\rm UV}$, so that when $c_{\rm UV} \gg 1$ the hydrodynamic interactions that led to KPZ can be ignored, and the system is diffusive. We discuss the relevant bound for this situation in more detail in this section, and highlight an important subtlety in applying causality bounds to thermalization.

First note that, strictly, the inequality (3) bounds the time scale suppressing higher derivative corrections near the lightcone, as these are the corrections that need to be large enough to restore causality. Indeed, evaluating a retarded Green's function along the trajectory

$$x(t) = c_s t + (\mathcal{D}t)^{1/z} , \qquad (61)$$

one expects to find corrections of the form

$$G_{T_{0x}T_{0x}}^{R}(t,x(t)) \sim \frac{sT}{t(t\mathcal{D})^{1/z}} \left[1 + \left(\frac{\tau_{\text{correction}}}{t}\right)^{\#} + \cdots \right].$$
(62)

When $t < D^{1/(z-1)}/(1-c_s)^{z/(z-1)}$, the operators are spacelike separated and the retarded Green's function must vanish – for this to be possible the correction must be large enough, i.e.,

$$\tau_{\text{correction}} \gtrsim \frac{\mathcal{D}^{1/(z-1)}}{(1-c_s)^{z/(z-1)}}.$$
(63)

One may expect that corrections are suppressed by the UV cutoff of hydrodynamics, $\tau_{\rm correction} \sim \tau_{\rm eq}$, which would then lead to Eq. (3). While this is correct for KPZ hydrodynamics, it is not in diffusive hydrodynamics: we show below that in this case the correction is $\tau_{\rm correction} \sim \tau_{\rm eq}^2/t_D$, with the diffusion time defined as¹⁴

$$t_D \equiv \frac{D}{c_s^2} \,. \tag{64}$$

¹³We are thankful to Richard Davison for discussions that led to the identification of a mistake in a previous version of this section. We also thank Hesam Soltanpanahi for related discussions.

¹⁴A similar subtlety does not arise in KPZ hydrodynamics relevant for 2d QFTs at finite c_{UV} . There, irrelevant corrections to diffusion can be ignored, and KPZ diffusion arises from relevant interactions in the coordinates that follow the pulse $x = \pm c_s t$. The dynamics no longer depends on c_s , nor therefore on the timescale D^2/c_s^3 analogous to t_D . Irrelevant correction instead arise from corrections to KPZ scaling.

Sci Post

To do this, we study higher derivative corrections to hydrodynamics – these are expected to arise at the scale set by the cutoff and can be used as a proxy for τ_{eq} . In 1+1d, there is a single term, τ_{Π} , that is second order in derivatives in the constitutive relation [57]:

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \varepsilon u^{\mu} u^{\nu} + P \Delta^{\mu\nu} - \zeta \left(1 - \tau_{\Pi} u \cdot \partial\right) (\partial \cdot u) \Delta^{\mu\nu} + \cdots,$$
(65)

with $\Delta^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} + u^{\mu}u^{\nu}$. Linearizing the continuity relations $\partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$ as in Sec. 3 leads to the following equation of motion for the right-moving mode $\pi_{+} = \delta \pi + c_s \delta \epsilon$:

$$\left(\partial_t + c_s \partial_x\right) \pi_+ - \frac{1}{2} D(1 - \tau_\Pi \partial_t) \partial_x \partial_t \pi_+ = 0, \qquad (66)$$

with $D = \zeta/(sT)$. We have dropped a higher derivative mixing term with the left-moving mode π_{-} , as this will give exponentially suppressed contributions in the kinematics (61). Defining

$$\tilde{x} \equiv \frac{x - c_s t}{\sqrt{D}},\tag{67}$$

the equation becomes

$$\partial_t \pi_+ + \frac{1}{2} \left[1 + \left(\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{t_D} + \frac{\tau_{\Pi}}{\sqrt{t_D}} \right) \partial_{\tilde{x}} \right] \partial_{\tilde{x}}^2 \pi_+ = 0.$$
(68)

These coordinates have diffusive scaling $t \sim \tilde{x}^2$. The equation above reveals the time scales suppressing higher derivative corrections along the trajectory (61): t_D and τ_{Π}^2/t_D , instead of the cutoff $\tau_{eq} \sim \tau_{\Pi}$. Along this trajectory the Green's function takes the form (dropping numerical factors)

$$G_{T_{0x}T_{0x}}^{R}(t,x(t)) \sim \frac{sT}{t(tD)^{1/2}} \left[1 + \left(\frac{t_{D} + \tau_{\Pi}^{2}/t_{D}}{t}\right)^{1/2} + \cdots \right],$$
(69)

as can be verified by direct calculation. The bound (63) therefore applies to the timescale $\tau_{\text{correction}} \sim \max(t_D, \tau_{\Pi}^2/t_D)$. At high temperatures one approaches the CFT, so that $c_s \rightarrow 1$ and $t_D \rightarrow 0$ (because the bulk viscosity vanishes in the CFT). The bound then becomes

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \frac{t_D}{1 - c_s} \,. \tag{70}$$

Alternatively, this bound can be expressed as an upper bound on the bulk viscosity

$$\frac{\zeta}{s} \lesssim (1 - c_s) T \tau_{\rm eq}. \tag{71}$$

This bound applies in particular to holographic 2d CFTs deformed by a relevant operator. Identifying $1/\tau_{eq}$ with the frequency of the first quasinormal mode [2, 58–60] $\omega_{qnm} \sim T$, one finds that (71) is a strong bound on the diffusion constant (or, more precisely, the sound attenuation rate) at high temperatures $T \gg \Lambda$:

$$\frac{\zeta}{s} \lesssim (1 - c_s) \simeq (2 - \Delta) \alpha_{\Delta} \left(\frac{\Lambda}{T}\right)^{2(2 - \Delta)}.$$
(72)

It is interesting to contrast this with a conjectured lower bound on the bulk viscosity [61], which in 2d reads $\frac{\zeta}{s} \ge \frac{1}{\pi}(1-c_s)$. Although this latter bound is known to be violated in certain situations [62, 63], the bulk viscosity in holographic models typically behaves as $\zeta/s \sim (1-c_s)$ [62, 64, 65]. From the perspective of Eq. (71), these systems therefore thermalize as rapidly as allowed by causality, in 2d. It would be interesting to further explore asymptotically AdS₃ bulks with relevant deformations from this perspective; see Refs. [66–69] for partial results in that direction¹⁵.

¹⁵In particular, it is surprising that the hydrodynamic Green's function (69) receives large corrections even at timescales parametrically larger than the equilibration time $\tau_{eq} \sim \tau_{\Pi}$ at which 'new physics', in the form of quasi-normal modes, arises. We leave further investigation of this issue for future work.

6 Future Directions

We have found that (1+1)d QFTs thermalize slowly, with equilibration time bounded below. In a similar vein, bounds on transport [70, 71], chaos [72] and the equilibration time [2, 6, 73, 74] constrain the thermal dynamics of quantum systems without relying on a quasiparticle picture. One distinguishing feature of our bound (4) is that temperature is not the only scale involved – 2d QFTs therefore have 'sub-Planckian' thermalization at high and low temperatures despite the absence of a quasiparticle description, in contrast to what is expected in higher dimensions or in systems without momentum conservation [6, 73].

We have focused on QFTs obtained by perturbing UV CFTs with a relevant operator; another possible way to define a QFT is as the continuum limit of a lattice model. In such theories the spacetime symmetries of the QFT, in particular translation invariance, are only emergent. This will entirely change the high temperature limit of the theory, and momentum will not be a long lived collective excitation in the hydrodynamic regime. However, our results may apply to lattice systems close to a critical point described by a CFT, in particular in the quantum critical fan region, if a sufficiently large parametric window exists between the lattice scale *a* and the scale of the relevant deformation: $\Lambda \ll T \ll c_s/a$. KPZ dissipation was observed numerically in a classical spin chain at intermediate temperatures in Ref. [75]. Our results also generalize to Lorentz breaking relevant deformations, as long as the equation of state approaches that of a CFT at high (or intermediate) temperatures.

Acknowledgements

We thank Bruno Balthazar, Daniel Brennan, John Cardy, Anushya Chandran, Clay Córdova, Richard Davison, Christian Ferko, Blaise Goutéraux, Sašo Grozdanov, Edward Mazenc, Anatoli Polkovnikov and Hesam Soltanpanahi for enlightening discussions. We also thank Tom Hartman and Sean Hartnoll for valuable comments on an earlier version of this manuscript. LVD is supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation and the Robert R. McCormick Postdoctoral Fellowship of the Enrico Fermi Institute. ALF and EK were supported in part by the US Department of Energy Office of Science under Award Number DE-SC0015845 and the Simons Collaboration Grant on the Non-Perturbative Bootstrap, and ALF in part by a Sloan Foundation fellowship. MTW is partly supported by the Simons Collaboration on the Nonperturbative Bootstrap and the National Centre of Competence in Research SwissMAP funded by the Swiss National Science Foundation.

A Special Cases

A.1 Free fermion and scalar

The equation of state of a two-dimensional free fermion or scalar is given by

$$P = \sigma T \int \frac{dk}{2\pi} \log\left(1 + \sigma e^{-\beta \sqrt{m^2 + k^2}}\right), \qquad (73)$$

with $\sigma = +1$ for the fermion and $\sigma = -1$ for the boson. For the scalar, one finds that in the high temperature limit $T \gg m$ the pressure is

$$P = \frac{\pi}{6}T^2 - \frac{1}{2}mT + \cdots.$$
(74)

We will further comment on this system in Appendix A.3.

For the fermions, the mass term $\delta S = m \int d^2 x \bar{\psi} \psi$ is a relevant deformation with dimension $\Delta = 1$. At high temperatures $T \gg m$ the pressure is given by

$$P = \frac{\pi}{12}T^2 - \frac{m^2}{4\pi}\log\frac{T}{m} + \cdots,$$
 (75)

leading to

$$s_o = \frac{\pi}{6} \left[1 - 6 \frac{(m/2\pi)^2}{T^2} + \cdots \right],$$
(76)

which agrees with the general result (16) from conformal perturbation theory, with $c_{\rm UV} = \frac{1}{2}$, $\Delta = 1$ and $\lambda = \frac{m}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$ (this last identification follows from the fact that the CFT primary in (12) is normalized as $(\bar{\psi}\psi)_{\rm CFT} = \sqrt{c_{\rm UV}}2\pi\bar{\psi}\psi$). Note that the pressure (75) has a logarithmic enhancement – correspondingly, there is a divergence in the conformal perturbation theory expression (11) for the pressure when $\Delta \rightarrow 1$.

A.2 Integrable Ising flows

The critical Ising model (Ising field theory) deformed by the magnetic σ operator, ¹⁶

$$S = S_{\rm IFT} - \frac{h}{\sqrt{c_{\rm UV}}} \int_0^\beta dt \int_{-\infty}^\infty dx \,\sigma(x), \qquad (77)$$

is integrable [76], providing probably the simplest example of a nontrivial but solvable CFT deformed by a relevant operator. The σ operator is a scalar with dimension $\Delta = \frac{1}{8}$ and the UV central charge is $c_{\text{UV}} = \frac{1}{2}$, so according to conformal perturbation theory the pressure at high *T* is

$$P = \frac{c_{\rm UV}\pi T^2}{6} + h^2 \frac{4\Gamma\left(\frac{7}{16}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{17}{16}\right)}{\pi^{3/4}T^{7/4}\Gamma\left(\frac{9}{16}\right)\Gamma\left(\frac{15}{16}\right)} + \mathcal{O}(h^3) = \frac{\pi T^2}{12} \left(1 + 7.71\left(\frac{h}{T^{\frac{15}{8}}}\right)^2 + \mathcal{O}(h^3)\right).$$
(78)

In the opposite limit, $T \rightarrow 0$, the pressure is dominated by a temperature-independent vacuum energy Λ_{IR} , which does not affect the speed of sound c_s . The leading temperature-dependent contribution comes from the lightest particle, with mass m_1 , propagating around the thermal circle:

$$\delta P = -\frac{T^2}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \log\left(1 - e^{-\sqrt{x^2 + m_1^2/T^2}}\right) \approx \frac{T^2}{2\pi} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi m_1}{T}} e^{-\frac{m_1}{T}},$$
(79)

and so at small *T*, $c_s^2 \approx \frac{T}{m_1}$. By scaling, the mass m_1 is proportional to a power of *h*, and in this case, the proportionality constant can be computed exactly:

$$m_1 = 4.402h^{8/15}.$$
 (80)

For intermediate values of *T* away from these limits, the pressure can be computed using the Thermodynamic Bethe Ansatz, as in [77]; the scaling function $\tilde{c}(r)$ computed in Table 2 of [77] is related to the pressure by $P(T) = \frac{\tilde{c}(\frac{m_1}{T})\pi T^2}{6} - \Lambda_{\text{IR}}$. Using this result, in units where h = 1, we show the speed of sound and dimensionless entropy s_o as a function of β in Fig. 3. As expected, the exact result smoothly interpolates between the two limits, and in fact is well-approximated by one or the other limit for most values of *T*.

¹⁶We are dividing *h* in the action by $\sqrt{c_{\text{UV}}}$ for simpler comparison with the literature, since this factor compensates for our convention in this paper that $\langle \mathcal{O}(x)\mathcal{O}(0)\rangle \sim \frac{c_{\text{UV}}}{\sqrt{2\alpha}}$.



Figure 3: *Left:* Speed of sound squared, $c_s^2 = \frac{\frac{dP}{dT}}{T\frac{d^2P}{dT^2}}$, as a function of inverse temperature β in Ising Field Theory deformed by the σ operator in units with h = 1. The black, solid line is the exact result from integrability. Also shown are the leading large T result in conformal perturbation theory (blue, dotted) from (78) and the leading small T result $c_s^2 \approx \frac{1}{m_1\beta}$ (red, dashed), where m_1 is the mass of the lightest particle. *Right:* Dimensionless entropy $s_o = \frac{1}{T} \frac{dP}{dT}$ as a function of β . Again, the black solid line is the exact result in the Ising Field Theory deformed by σ with h = 1, shown together with the leading conformal perturbation theory result (blue, dotted), and leading small T result $s_o \approx \frac{e^{-\beta m_1}(\beta m_1)^{3/2}}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$ (red, dashed).

Another integrable flow with the Ising model at an endpoint is the flow from the Tricritical Ising Model (TIM) to Ising:

$$S = S_{\text{TIM}} + \frac{g}{\sqrt{c_{\text{UV}}}} \int_0^\beta dt \int_{-\infty}^\infty dx \,\epsilon' \,. \tag{81}$$

The ϵ' operator has dimension $\Delta = \frac{6}{5}$ and the UV central charge $c_{\rm UV}$ in this case is the TIM central charge $c_{\rm UV} = \frac{7}{10}$. The pressure as a function of temperature was computed numerically in [78]. For g = 1, we show the speed of sound c_s and dimensionless entropy s_o as a function of T for this flow in Fig. 4. The leading irrelevant operator as one approaches the Ising model in this case is the operator $T\bar{T}$, so this is a case where the sign of $\lambda_{T\bar{T}}$ is fixed by causality.

A.3 Scalar + ϕ^p

Consider the QFT obtained from the free scalar theory with the following relevant deformation

$$S = \int d^2x \, \frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 + \frac{\lambda}{p!} \phi^p \,, \tag{82}$$

with $p \ge 2$ even. Although ϕ^p is not a primary or descendant of the CFT, its logarithmic two-point function implies that it formally has dimension $\Delta = 0$. The conformal perturbation theory approach used in Sec. 2 predicts corrections to the equation of state that are analytic in coupling $\delta P \propto \lambda^2$ – however the results obtained there diverge when $\Delta \rightarrow 0$. In fact, the pressure of free massive scalar (74) already shows that for p = 2 the correction is not analytic in coupling $\delta P \propto \sqrt{m^2}$. We will show more generally that the high temperature equation of state of the theory (82) is non-analytic in coupling. This breakdown of conformal perturbation theory stems from the absence of a thermal mass of the two-dimensional massless scalar, which leads to IR divergences in the expansion (11).



Figure 4: Same as Fig. 3, but for flow from tricritical Ising model deformed by ϵ' to the critical Ising model. Red, dashed lines in this case are the leading correction in the IR due to the $T\bar{T}$ deformation around Ising; blue, dotted lines are leading correction in UV from conformal perturbation theory; and black, solid line is numeric result from [78].

We start with p = 4 and generalize later. When computing the partition function on the thermal cylinder, it is convenient to expand the scalar field into a zero mode and KK modes

$$\phi(x,\tau) = \phi_0(x) + \sum_{n \neq 0} e^{i\omega_n \tau} \phi_n(x),$$
(83)

with Matsubara frequencies $\omega_n = 2\pi nT$, see e.g. Refs. [45, 79]. The dimensionally reduced action reads, after canonical normalization

$$S = \int d^{d-1}x \, \frac{1}{2} (\nabla \phi_0)^2 + \frac{\lambda T}{4!} \phi_0^4 + \sum_{n>0} \left(|\nabla \phi_n|^2 + \omega_n^2 |\phi_n|^2 + \frac{\lambda T}{2} \phi_0^2 |\phi_n|^2 + \cdots \right). \tag{84}$$

There are also two other interaction terms: $\lambda T \phi_0 \phi_n^3$ and $\lambda T \phi_n^4$. We have generalized to arbitrary spacetime dimension, and will restore d = 2 below. The KK modes have mass ω_n and interaction λT . Their dimensionless interaction is therefore

$$\frac{\lambda T}{\omega_n^{5-d}} \sim \left(\frac{\Lambda}{T}\right)^{4-d} , \tag{85}$$

with $\Lambda \equiv \lambda^{1/(4-d)}$. In d < 4, where the interaction is relevant, the KK modes are weakly coupled at high temperatures $T \gg \Lambda$. Let us now turn to the zero mode. It acquires a thermal mass from its coupling to the KK mode shown in (84) – to leading order in λ one finds, after performing the Matsubara sum

$$m_{\rm th}^2 = \frac{\lambda T}{2} \int \frac{d^{d-1}k}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} \frac{\beta}{2|k|} \coth \frac{\beta|k|}{2} - \frac{1}{k^2}.$$
 (86)

This integral is free of IR divergences since only KK modes are running in the loop, and temperature-independent UV divergences can be removed with a mass counterm in (82). In d = 4, this integral leads to the well known thermal mass $m_{\rm th}^2 = \frac{1}{4!}\lambda T^2$ – this implies that the zero-mode dimensionless coupling $\lambda T/m_{\rm th}^{5-d}$ is also small at high temperatures (if λ is small). In d = 3, the thermal mass is $m_{\rm th}^2 = -\frac{\lambda T}{4\pi} \log \frac{\Lambda}{T}$ [79], implying that the zero-mode is only logarithmically weakly coupled at high temperature. Finally, in the case d = 2 of interest one finds a thermal mass

$$m_{\rm th}^2 = \frac{\lambda}{4\pi} \log \frac{\Lambda}{T} \,. \tag{87}$$

The zero-mode is therefore *strongly* coupled at high temperatures $T \gg \sqrt{\lambda}$. This explains the issues encountered in conformal perturbation theory (11) (which is a weak coupling expansion) when $\Delta = 0$. Similar infrared effects lead to a breakdown of perturbation theory in high temperature QCD [36]; they are stronger for the two-dimensional theory (82) and already dominate the leading correction to the high-temperature equation of state.

Let us study the contribution of the strongly coupled zero-mode to the pressure. After integrating out the KK modes, the partition function takes the form

$$Z = e^{\beta V P_{KK}} \int D\phi_0 e^{-\int dx \frac{1}{2}\phi_0 (m_{\rm th}^2 - \nabla^2)\phi_0 + \frac{\lambda T}{4!}\phi_0^4},$$
(88)

so that the pressure $P = \frac{T}{V} \log Z$ is

$$P = P_{\rm KK} + P_{\rm zm} = \frac{\pi}{6} T^2 (1 + O(\lambda/T^2)) - TE_{\rm gs}(m_{\rm th}^2, \lambda T),$$
(89)

where $E_{gs}(m^2, g)$ is ground state energy of the (0+1)-dimensional anharmonic oscillator $\frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 + \frac{1}{2}m^2\phi^2 + \frac{1}{4!}g\phi^4$ (we note in passing that setting $m_{th} \rightarrow m$ and $\lambda \rightarrow 0$ reproduces the equation of state of the free scalar (74), since $E_{gs}(m^2, 0) = \frac{1}{2}m$). At high temperatures, E_{gs} will have a strong coupling expansion which by dimensional analysis must take the form

$$E_{\rm gs}(m_{\rm th}^2, \lambda T) = (\lambda T/4!)^{1/3} \left[a_0 + a_1 \left(\frac{m_{\rm th}^2}{(\lambda T/4!)^{2/3}} \right) + a_2 \left(\frac{m_{\rm th}^2}{(\lambda T/4!)^{2/3}} \right)^2 + \cdots \right] .$$
(90)

Although the zero-mode sector is strongly coupled, as a quantum mechanical system it is well amenable to numerics; see e.g. Ref. [80], which found $a_0 \approx 0.667986$ and $a_1 \approx 0.143668$. We therefore find that the leading correction to the equation of state at high temperature is

$$P = \frac{\pi}{6}T^2 - a_0 T (\lambda T/4!)^{1/3} + \cdots .$$
(91)

Notice that it has the right sign required by subluminality of sound, as found in Sec. 2. Unlike the other special cases studied in appendices A.1 and A.2 which are integrable, ϕ^4 theory is non-integrable and expected to have emergent KPZ hydrodynamics at finite temperature and late time. Following similar arguments to those in the main text, this leads to a strong bound on the equilibration time of this theory at high temperatures $T \gg \Lambda \equiv \sqrt{\lambda}$

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \frac{1}{T} \left(\frac{T}{\Lambda}\right)^{2/3}$$
 (92)

This result can be generalized to the theory (82) with other values of the exponent ϕ^p , fine-tuning lower powers away. By dimensional analysis, the ground state of the quantum mechanical system $H = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2 + \lambda T^{\frac{p-2}{2}}\phi^p$ is $E_{gs} \sim (\lambda T^{\frac{p-2}{2}})^{\frac{2}{p+2}}$ leading to a correction to the pressure

$$P = \frac{\pi}{6} T^2 - a'_0 T (\lambda T^{\frac{p-2}{2}})^{\frac{2}{p+2}}.$$
(93)

The equilibration time of this QFT is therefore bounded by

$$\tau_{\rm eq} \gtrsim \frac{1}{T} \left(\frac{T}{\Lambda}\right)^{\frac{4}{p+2}}.$$
 (94)

B Comparison with Free Energy as a *C*-theorem

In this paper, we have discussed the bound on the speed of sound $c_s^2 \le 1$ as a *C*-theorem, since it implies the dimensionless entropy density $s_o \equiv \frac{s}{T} = \frac{1}{T} \frac{dP}{dT}$ is monotonic and equal to $\frac{\pi c}{3}$ at fixed points. This is closely related to, but different from, a similar *C*-theorem in the literature from considering the dimensionless free energy [8–12]:

$$f(T) \equiv \frac{P(T)}{T^2}.$$
(95)

In defining the above quantity, it is important that zero-temperature vacuum energy density (aka cosmological constant) Λ_{IR} be set to zero. Setting it to zero is equivalent to tuning the constant term Λ_{IR} in the Lagrangian at low energies to zero. Since Λ usually preserves all symmetries of the theory (aside from supersymmetries), it is generated along RG flows and therefore setting it to zero in the IR is not the same as setting it to zero in the UV. Therefore, to compute f(T) in practice in a CFT with a relevant deformation, we must solve the theory deep in the IR where the relevant deformation is strongly coupled, *even if we only want to know* f(T) at high temperatures where the relevant deformation is weakly coupled.

To see why the value of Λ affects the monotonicity of f(T), note that

$$T^{3}\frac{df}{dT} = \varepsilon(T) - P(T), \qquad (96)$$

where we have used the relation $T\frac{dP}{dT} = \varepsilon + P$. Therefore, f(T) is monotonic if and only if $\varepsilon \ge P$. However, Λ contributes to P and ε with opposite sign, $P(T) = -\varepsilon(T) = -\Lambda$. So by shifting the value of Λ , we can make $\varepsilon - P$ take any value we want. In a sense, $\frac{df}{dT} > 0$ is a scheme-dependent statement, since it is true or false depending on our prescription for the bare value of Λ_{UV} in the UV.

To emphasize this point, consider the value of Λ in CFTs deformed by strongly relevant $(0 < \Delta < 1)$ operators. In this case, there are no UV divergences in the theory and a natural choice is to set the bare value Λ_{UV} in the UV Lagrangian to zero. However, from equation (14), we see that the leading correction to f(T) in conformal perturbation theory gives

$$T^{3}\frac{df}{dT} = -\frac{\pi c_{\rm UV}\alpha_{\Delta}(2-\Delta)}{3(1-\Delta)} \left(\frac{\lambda}{T^{1-\Delta}}\right)^{2} + 2\Lambda_{\rm UV} + \dots, \qquad (97)$$

where ... are subleading at large *T*. Therefore, if $0 < \Delta < 1$ and $\Lambda_{UV} = 0$, then $\frac{df}{dT} < 0$ at sufficiently large *T*, violating its claimed monotonicity.

Take for instance the Ising model with a magnetic field deformation (77) as an explicit example. The deformation σ in this case has $\Delta = 1/8$, so f(T) will not be monotonic if we set $\Lambda_{\text{UV}} = 0$. Because the RG flow is integrable, the IR value Λ_{IR} is known exactly:

$$\Lambda_{\rm IR} - \Lambda_{\rm UV} = -1.1976 h^{16/15} \,. \tag{98}$$

Usually in the integrability literature, $\Lambda_{\rm UV}$ is implicitly set to vanish, and one finds $\Lambda_{\rm IR}$ in that case is nonzero and negative. However, in the definition of f(T) we are suppose to set $\Lambda_{\rm IR} = 0$, so we must set $\Lambda_{\rm UV} = 1.1976 h^{16/15} > 0$, which pushes $\frac{df}{dT}$ in (97) to be positive again.

In contrast, the *C*-function we consider in this paper, $s_o = \frac{1}{T} \frac{dP}{dT}$, does not depend on the value of Λ since Λ contributes a constant to *P*. Therefore, it can be computed (or measured!) at a temperature *T* using only the value of observable quantities at that temperature. Moreover, monotonicity of s_o implies monotonicity of f(T) (with Λ chosen as described above), as follows. From (17), monotonicity of s_o is equivalent to $c_s^2 < 1$, which is equivalent to $1 > c_s^2 = \frac{dP}{d\varepsilon} = \frac{dP/dT}{d\varepsilon/dT}$. Therefore, monotonicity of s_o implies that ε increases faster as a function of *T* than *P* does, $\frac{d}{dT}(\varepsilon - P) \ge 0$. If Λ is tuned to zero in the IR, so that $\varepsilon = P$ at T = 0, then it follows that $\varepsilon \ge P$ at all *T*, which by (96) implies $\frac{df}{dT} \ge 0$.

References

- H. W. J. Blöte, J. L. Cardy and M. P. Nightingale, *Conformal invariance, the central charge, and universal finite-size amplitudes at criticality*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 56, 742 (1986), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.56.742.
- [2] T. Hartman, S. A. Hartnoll and R. Mahajan, *Upper bound on diffusivity*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119, 141601 (2017), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.119.141601.
- [3] R. Geroch, Relativistic theories of dissipative fluids, J. Math. Phys. 36, 4226 (1995), doi:10.1063/1.530958.
- [4] P. Kostädt and M. Liu, Alleged acausality of the diffusion equations: A reply, Phys. Rev. D 64, 088504 (2001), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.64.088504.
- [5] R. Baier, P. Romatschke, D. T. Son, A. O. Starinets and M. A. Stephanov, *Relativistic viscous hydrodynamics, conformal invariance, and holography*, J. High Energy Phys. 04, 100 (2008), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/04/100.
- [6] S. Sachdev, Quantum phase transitions, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, ISBN 9780511973765 (2011), doi:10.1017/CBO9780511973765.
- [7] A. B. Zamolodchikov, *Irreversibility of the flux of the renormalization group in a 2D field theory*, JETP **43**, pp. 730-732 (1986).
- [8] J. D. Bjorken, *Highly relativistic nucleus-nucleus collisions: The central rapidity region*, Phys. Rev. D 27, 140 (1983), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.27.140.
- [9] D. Boyanovsky and R. Holman, *Zamolodchikov's c-theorem reexamined*, Phys. Rev. D 40, 1964 (1989), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.40.1964.
- [10] A. H. Castro Neto and E. Fradkin, The thermodynamics of quantum systems and generalizations of Zamolodchikov's C-theorem, Nucl. Phys. B 400, 525 (1993), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(93)90414-K.
- [11] M. Zabzine, A finite temperature generalization of Zamolodchikov's C-theorem, arXiv:hep-th/9705015.
- [12] T. Appelquist, A. G. Cohen and M. Schmaltz, A new constraint on strongly coupled field theories, Phys. Rev. D 60, 045003 (1999), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.60.045003.
- [13] A. W. W. Ludwig and J. L. Cardy, Perturbative evaluation of the conformal anomaly at new critical points with applications to random systems, Nucl. Phys. B 285, 687 (1987), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(87)90362-2.
- [14] T. R. Klassen and E. Melzer, Spectral flow between conformal field theories in (1 + 1)dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 370, 511 (1992), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(92)90422-8.
- [15] S. Sachdev, T. Senthil and R. Shankar, *Finite-temperature properties of quantum antiferromagnets in a uniform magnetic field in one and two dimensions*, Phys. Rev. B 50, 258 (1994), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.50.258.
- [16] P. Kovtun, Lectures on hydrodynamic fluctuations in relativistic theories, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 45, 473001 (2012), doi:10.1088/1751-8113/45/47/473001.

- [17] L. P. Kadanoff and P. C. Martin, *Hydrodynamic equations and correlation functions*, Ann. Phys. 24, 419 (1963), doi:10.1016/0003-4916(63)90078-2.
- [18] G. Policastro, D. T. Son and A. O. Starinets, From AdS/CFT correspondence to hydrodynamics. II. Sound waves, J. High Energy Phys. 12, 054 (2002), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2002/12/054.
- [19] D. Forster, D. R. Nelson and M. J. Stephen, *Large-distance and long-time properties of a randomly stirred fluid*, Phys. Rev. A **16**, 732 (1977), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.16.732.
- [20] M. Kardar, G. Parisi and Y.-C. Zhang, Dynamic scaling of growing interfaces, Phys. Rev. Lett. 56, 889 (1986), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.56.889.
- [21] O. Narayan and S. Ramaswamy, Anomalous heat conduction in onedimensional momentum-conserving systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 89, 200601 (2002), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.89.200601.
- [22] H. Spohn, Nonlinear fluctuating hydrodynamics for anharmonic chains, J. Stat. Phys. 154, 1191 (2014), doi:10.1007/s10955-014-0933-y.
- [23] M. Prähofer and H. Spohn, Exact scaling functions for one-dimensional stationary KPZ growth, J. Stat. Phys. 115, 255 (2004), doi:10.1023/B:JOSS.0000019810.21828.fc.
- [24] A. Dhar, Heat transport in low-dimensional systems, Adv. Phys. 57, 457 (2008), doi:10.1080/00018730802538522.
- [25] L. V. Delacrétaz and P. Glorioso, *Breakdown of diffusion on chiral edges*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124, 236802 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.124.236802.
- [26] P. Arnold, G. D. Moore and L. G. Yaffe, *Transport coefficients in high temperature gauge theories (I): Leading-log results*, J. High Energy Phys. **11**, 001 (2000), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2000/11/001.
- [27] A. Andreev, *The hydrodynamics of two-and one-dimensional liquids*, J. Exp. Theor. Phys. 51, 1038 (1980).
- [28] K. V. Samokhin, *Lifetime of excitations in a clean Luttinger liquid*, J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 10, L533 (1998), doi:10.1088/0953-8984/10/31/002.
- [29] R. Zwanzig, Memory effects in irreversible thermodynamics, Phys. Rev. 124, 983 (1961), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.124.983.
- [30] H. Mori, *Transport, collective motion, and Brownian motion*, Prog. Theor. Phys. **33**, 423 (1965), doi:10.1143/PTP.33.423.
- [31] S. A. Hartnoll, A. Lucas and S. Sachdev, *Holographic quantum matter*, arXiv:1612.07324[hep-th].
- [32] V. V. Bazhanov, S. L. Lukyanov and A. B. Zamolodchikov, *Integrable structure of conformal field theory, quantum KdV theory and thermodynamic Bethe ansatz*, Commun. Math. Phys. 177, 381 (1996), doi:10.1007/BF02101898.
- [33] A. Dymarsky and K. Pavlenko, Generalized eigenstate thermalization hypothesis in 2D conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123, 111602 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.123.111602.

- [34] R. D. Pisarski, *How to compute scattering amplitudes in hot gauge theories*, Phys. A: Stat. Mech. Appl. 158, 246 (1989), doi:10.1016/0378-4371(89)90525-6.
- [35] E. Braaten and R. D. Pisarski, Soft amplitudes in hot gauge theories: A general analysis, Nucl. Phys. B 337, 569 (1990), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(90)90508-B.
- [36] A. D. Linde, Infrared problem in the thermodynamics of the Yang-Mills gas, Phys. Lett. B 96, 289 (1980), doi:10.1016/0370-2693(80)90769-8.
- [37] S. Caron-Huot, O(g) plasma effects in jet quenching, Phys. Rev. D 79, 065039 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.79.065039.
- [38] S. Caron-Huot, Asymptotics of thermal spectral functions, Phys. Rev. D 79, 125009 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.79.125009.
- [39] M. Panero, K. Rummukainen and A. Schäfer, *Lattice study of the jet quenching parameter*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **112**, 162001 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.112.162001.
- [40] B. B. Brandt, A. Francis, M. Laine and H. B. Meyer, A relation between screening masses and real-time rates, J. High Energy Phys. 05, 117 (2014), doi:10.1007/JHEP05(2014)117.
- [41] J. Ghiglieri and D. Teaney, Parton energy loss and momentum broadening at NLO in high temperature QCD plasmas, Int. J. Mod. Phys. E 24, 1530013 (2015), doi:10.1142/S0218301315300131.
- [42] A. J. Friedman, S. Gopalakrishnan and R. Vasseur, *Diffusive hydrodynamics from integrability breaking*, Phys. Rev. B 101, 180302 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.101.180302.
- [43] J. Durnin, M. J. Bhaseen and B. Doyon, Non-equilibrium dynamics and weakly broken integrability, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127, 130601 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.127.130601.
- [44] J. Lopez-Piqueres, B. Ware, S. Gopalakrishnan and R. Vasseur, *Hydrodynamics of noninte-grable systems from a relaxation-time approximation*, Phys. Rev. B 103, L060302 (2021), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.103.L060302.
- [45] N. Chai, S. Chaudhuri, C. Choi, Z. Komargodski, E. Rabinovici and M. Smolkin, *Thermal order in conformal theories*, Phys. Rev. D 102, 065014 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.102.065014.
- [46] P. M. Hohler and M. A. Stephanov, Holography and the speed of sound at high temperatures, Phys. Rev. D 80, 066002 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.80.066002.
- [47] A. Cherman, T. D. Cohen and A. Nellore, Bound on the speed of sound from holography, Phys. Rev. D 80, 066003 (2009), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.80.066003.
- [48] E. Katz, S. Sachdev, E. S. Sørensen and W. Witczak-Krempa, Conformal field theories at nonzero temperature: Operator product expansions, Monte Carlo, and holography, Phys. Rev. B 90, 245109 (2014), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.90.245109.
- [49] L. Iliesiu, M. Koloğlu, R. Mahajan, E. Perlmutter and D. Simmons-Duffin, *The conformal bootstrap at finite temperature*, J. High Energy Phys. **10**, 070 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2018)070.
- [50] A. Adams, N. Arkani-Hamed, S. Dubovsky, A. Nicolis and R. Rattazzi, *Causality, analyticity and an IR obstruction to UV completion*, J. High Energy Phys. **10**, 014 (2006), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2006/10/014.

- [51] J. Cardy, Quantum quenches to a critical point in one dimension: Some further results, J. Stat. Mech. 023103 (2016), doi:10.1088/1742-5468/2016/02/023103.
- [52] L. McGough, M. Mezei and H. Verlinde, *Moving the CFT into the bulk with* $T\overline{T}$, J. High Energy Phys. **04**, 010 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2018)010.
- [53] M. Medenjak, G. Policastro and T. Yoshimura, TT-deformed conformal field theories out of equilibrium, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126, 121601 (2020), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.121601.
- [54] R. Dijkgraaf, E. Verlinde and H. Verlinde, c = 1 conformal field theories on Riemann surfaces, Commun. Math. Phys. 115, 649 (1988), doi:10.1007/BF01224132.
- [55] P. Kraus, Lectures on black holes and the AdS₃ / CFT₂ correspondence, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, ISBN 9783540795223 (2008), doi:10.1007/978-3-540-79523-0 4.
- [56] E. Dyer, A. L. Fitzpatrick and Y. Xin, Constraints on flavored 2d CFT partition functions, J. High Energy Phys. 02, 148 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP02(2018)148.
- [57] P. Romatschke, *Relativistic viscous fluid dynamics and non-equilibrium entropy*, Class. Quantum Grav. 27, 025006 (2009), doi:10.1088/0264-9381/27/2/025006.
- [58] G. T. Horowitz and V. E. Hubeny, Quasinormal modes of AdS black holes and the approach to thermal equilibrium, Phys. Rev. D 62, 024027 (2000), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.62.024027.
- [59] D. T. Son and A. O. Starinets, *Minkowski-space correlators in AdS/CFT correspondence: Recipe and applications*, J. High Energy Phys. 09, 042 (2002), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2002/09/042.
- [60] S. Grozdanov, P. K. Kovtun, A. O. Starinets and P. Tadić, Convergence of the gradient expansion in hydrodynamics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122, 251601 (2019), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.122.251601.
- [61] A. Buchel, Bulk viscosity of gauge theory plasma at strong coupling, Phys. Lett. B 663, 286 (2008), doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2008.03.069.
- [62] S. S. Gubser, S. S. Pufu and F. D. Rocha, Bulk viscosity of strongly coupled plasmas with holographic duals, J. High Energy Phys. 08, 085 (2008), doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2008/08/085.
- [63] A. Buchel, Violation of the holographic bulk viscosity bound, Phys. Rev. D 85, 066004 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.85.066004.
- [64] A. Yarom, *Notes on the bulk viscosity of holographic gauge theory plasmas*, J. High Energy Phys. **04**, 024 (2010), doi:10.1007/JHEP04(2010)024.
- [65] C. Eling and Y. Oz, A novel formula for bulk viscosity from the null horizon focusing equation, J. High Energy Phys. 06, 007 (2011), doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2011)007.
- [66] J. Ren, One-dimensional holographic superconductor from AdS₃/CFT₂ correspondence, J. High Energy Phys. 11, 055 (2010), doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2010)055.
- [67] J. R. David, M. Mahato, S. Thakur and S. R. Wadia, *Hydrodynamics of R-charged D1-branes*, J. High Energy Phys. 01, 014 (2011), doi:10.1007/JHEP01(2011)014.
- [68] C. Ecker, D. Grumiller, H. Soltanpanahi and P. Stanzer, *QNEC2 in deformed holographic CFTs*, J. High Energy Phys. **03**, 213 (2021), doi:10.1007/JHEP03(2021)213.

- [69] R. Davison, Unpublished, 2021.
- [70] P. K. Kovtun, D. T. Son and A. O. Starinets, Viscosity in strongly interacting quantum field theories from black hole physics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94, 111601 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.94.111601.
- [71] S. A. Hartnoll, Theory of universal incoherent metallic transport, Nat. Phys. 11, 54 (2014), doi:10.1038/nphys3174.
- [72] J. Maldacena, S. H. Shenker and D. Stanford, *A bound on chaos*, J. High Energy Phys. 08, 106 (2016), doi:10.1007/JHEP08(2016)106.
- [73] J. Zaanen, Why the temperature is high, Nature 430, 512 (2004), doi:10.1038/430512a.
- [74] L. V. Delacrétaz, T. Hartman, S. A. Hartnoll and A. Lewkowycz, *Thermalization, viscosity and the averaged null energy condition*, J. High Energy Phys. **10**, 028 (2018), doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2018)028.
- [75] A. Das, K. Damle, A. Dhar, D. A. Huse, M. Kulkarni, C. B. Mendl and H. Spohn, Nonlinear fluctuating hydrodynamics for the classical XXZ spin chain, J. Stat. Phys. 180, 238 (2019), doi:10.1007/s10955-019-02397-y.
- [76] A. B. Zamolodchikov, Integrable field theory from conformal field theory, Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 19, pp. 641-674 (1989), doi:10.2969/aspm/01910641.
- [77] T. R. Klassen and E. Melzer, The thermodynamics of purely elastic scattering theories and conformal perturbation theory, Nucl. Phys. B 350, 635 (1991), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(91)90159-U.
- [78] A. B. Zamolodchikov, From tricritical Ising to critical Ising by thermodynamic Bethe ansatz, Nucl. Phys. B 358, 524 (1991), doi:10.1016/0550-3213(91)90423-U.
- [79] J. Zinn-Justin, Quantum field theory at finite temperature: An introduction, arXiv:hep-ph/0005272.
- [80] W. Janke and H. Kleinert, Convergent strong-coupling expansions from divergent weak-coupling perturbation theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75, 2787 (1995), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.75.2787.